
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 

Civil Action No.: ___________________ 

 

RONALD ZAPKO, and 

JOHN TOWERY, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

 

v. 

 

HCA-HEALTHONE, LLC d/b/a ROSE MEDICAL CENTER, 

 

Defendants. 

 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

 

Plaintiffs, Ronald Zapko and John Towery, by and through undersigned counsel, hereby 

bring this Complaint against HCA-HealthONE, LLC, doing business as Rose Medical Center 

(“Rose”), for violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et 

seq., Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”), 29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq., and 

the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act (“CADA”), Colo. Rev. Stat. 24-34-601, et seq.  

Introduction  

1. On July 26, 1990, more than twenty years ago, the ADA was passed, establishing 

the most important civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s history. 

2. The ADA was passed to ensure people with disabilities are not discriminated 

against. 

3. One of the purposes of the ADA is ensuring that deaf or hard-of-hearing individuals 

receive qualified sign language interpreter services or other auxiliary aids and services to ensure 
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effective communication. 

4. Title III of the ADA specifically applies to health care provider offices and 

hospitals, such as Rose Medical Center. 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(F). 

5. As set forth more fully below, Defendant discriminated against Mr. Zapko and Mr. 

Towery on the basis of disability by refusing to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services 

necessary to ensure effective communication. See 42 U.S.C . § 12182, 29 U.S.C. § 794, Colo. Rev. 

Stat. § 24-34-601. 

6. Plaintiffs seek a court order compelling Defendant to comply with the ADA, 

Section 504 and the CADA, monetary damages and the recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ 

fees and costs. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

7. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343. 

8. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state claims in this action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

9. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

 Parties 

10. Plaintiff Ronald Zapko is and was at all times material hereto a resident of 

Colorado. Mr. Zapko is deaf. Mr. Zapko is Mr. Towery’s partner.

11. Plaintiff John Towery is and was at all times material hereto a resident of Colorado.  

Mr. Towery is deaf. Mr. Towery is Mr. Zapko’s partner. 
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12. Defendant HCA-HealthONE, LLC, is a Colorado Limited Liability Company, 

doing business as Rose Medical Center, located at 4567 East 9th Avenue in Denver, Colorado. 

Facts 

13. Messrs. Zapko and Mr. Towery live near Rose and prefer to seek treatment at Rose 

when necessary. 

14. Messrs. Zapko and Towery have sought emergency treatment from Rose in the past 

and, each time, had been provided with a qualified sign language interpreter. 

15. Messrs. Zapko and Towery are deaf and communicate primarily in American Sign 

Language (“ASL”). 

16. ASL is a separate and distinct language from English, which utilizes its own 

grammar, words, phrases, and syntax. 

17. On November 13, 2012, Mr. Zapko began experiencing significant abdominal pain 

and other gastrointestinal issues, causing he and Mr. Towery to seek treatment at Rose. 

18. Approximately one hour prior to their arrival at Rose, Mr. Towery called Rose via 

videophone to request that an American Sign Language (“ASL”) interpreter be provided, and was 

assured that one would be. 

19. Upon their arrival at the emergency room, Messrs. Zapko and Towery asked for the 

ASL interpreter, but Rose staff did not direct them to an interpreter.   

20. Rather, Rose staff began triage questions via written notes. 

21. Neither Mr. Zapko nor Mr. Towery communicate effectively in written English. 

22. Eventually, Messrs. Zapko and Towery were directed to a Video Remote 
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Interpreter (“VRI”) machine.   

23. The VRI machine’s screen was not large enough to adequately display the 

interpreter's face, arms, hands, and fingers, and Messrs. Zapko and Towery’s faces, arms, hands, 

and fingers, regardless of their body positions. 

24.  Messrs. Zapko and Towery were unable to adequately view the interpreter to 

discern the communication. 

25. In addition, the image of the interpreter on the VRI screen was not sharp enough for 

Messrs. Zapko and Towery to discern the detailed movements of the interpreter’s gestures, and 

frequently froze and became jumpy. 

26. After a few minutes of attempting to communicate via VRI, the VRI machine 

simply disconnected from the interpreter. 

27. On information and belief, the VRI machine did not utilize a dedicated high speed, 

wide-bandwitdh connection as necessary to deliver high-quality video images that do not produce 

lags, choppy, blurry, or grainy images, or irregular pauses in communication.  

28. While Rose staff members attempted to re-establish the VRI connection to an 

interpreter, other members of Rose staff took Mr. Zapko to have blood drawn and for an x-ray, in 

the absence of a qualified sign language interpreter. 

29. After Mr. Zapko’s blood-draw and x-ray, he and Mr. Towery returned to the room 

to meet with a physician. 

30. When Messrs. Zapko and Towery returned to the room, Rose staff still had not 

gotten the VRI machine to function. 
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31. After several more minutes of Rose staff attempting to re-establish the VRI 

connection to an interpreter, the physician simply concluded the consultation by writing notes in 

English. 

32. On information and belief, Rose failed to provide adequate training to users of the 

technology and other involved individuals so that they may quickly and efficiently set up and 

operate the VRI. 

33. On information and belief, the equipment Rose uses for its VRI services fails to 

meet the requirements of the ADA regulations. 

34. Concluding the consultation with the physician via written notes, in the absence of 

an ASL interpreter, did not provide Messrs. Zapko and Towery with effective communication. 

35. The malfunctioning and inadequate VRI did not provide Messrs. Zapko and 

Towery with effective communication. 

36. On February 6, 2013, Mr. Zapko again developed significant back and abdominal 

pain, causing he and Mr. Towery to go to the Rose emergency room. 

37. Once again, Mr. Towery called Rose via videophone approximately one hour 

before leaving for the emergency room to request a qualified sign language interpreter. 

38. On information and belief, Mr. Towery spoke with a Nurse Adams. 

39. Because of their experience with the malfunctioning and inadequate VRI, and 

resulting lack of effective communication, in November of 2012, Mr. Towery specifically 

requested that Rose secure a live (as opposed to video remote) qualified interpreter. 

40. Nurse Adams informed Mr. Towery that an interpreter would be provided. 
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41. When Messrs. Zapko and Towery arrived at the Rose emergency room, there did 

not appear to be a live qualified interpreter there, causing Messrs. Zapko and Towery to ask Rose 

staff for the interpreter. 

42. The Rose staff with whom Messrs. Zapko and Towery communicated acted very 

evasive. 

43. Rather than answering Messrs. Zapko and Towery’s question about the location of 

the interpreter, Rose staff instead began various medical procedures on Mr. Zapko, including 

inserting an IV and drawing blood. 

44. Rose staff did not provide Messrs. Zapko and Towery with any explanation for why 

they inserted an IV or drew blood, and, in the absence of appropriate auxiliary aids and services, 

specifically including a qualified sign language interpreter, Messrs. Zapko and Towery were 

unable to adequately ask questions of Rose staff. 

45. Rose staff informed Messrs. Zapko and Towery that the VRI machine was in use by 

another patient. 

46. Using his laptop computer, Mr. Towery requested whether a live interpreter would 

be provided, as he had requested prior to their arrival, and was informed by Rose staff that they 

were unable to find one available. 

47. Mr. Towery provided Rose staff with the name of an interpreter agency that has 

historically provided sign language interpreters on short notice, Purple, and asked Rose staff to 

contact them. 

48. Rose staff informed Mr. Towery that they had contacted Purple but Purple was 
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unable to fulfill their request. 

49. Following Mr. Zapko’s x-ray, Messrs. Zapko and Towery consulted with a 

physician, in the absence of any auxiliary aids or services. 

50. The physician with whom Messrs. Zapko and Towery met, requested that they 

communicate by lipreading. 

51. Neither Mr. Zapko nor Mr. Towery effectively communicate by lipreading. 

52. Mr. Towery had his laptop computer, which he and Rose staff had utilized for 

simple communication prior to their consultation with Messrs. Zapko and Towery.  

53. Because Rose failed to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services for their 

consultation with Rose staff and the physician, Mr. Towery utilized his laptop computer to 

communicate in writing with the physician. 

54. Because neither Mr. Zapko nor Mr. Towery communicate in written English 

effectively, neither Mr. Zapko nor Mr. Towery was able to effectively communicate with the 

physician or participate in the physician’s consultation in any meaningful way. 

55. Neither Mr. Zapko nor Mr. Towery was able to sufficiently ask questions of the 

physician in the absence of appropriate auxiliary aids and services, specifically including a 

qualified sign language interpreter.  

56. Neither Mr. Zapko nor Mr. Towery was able to describe Mr. Zapko’s symptoms in 

adequate detail in the absence of appropriate auxiliary aids and services, specifically including a 

qualified sign language interpreter. 

57. Neither Mr. Zapko nor Mr. Towery was able to engage in any conversational 
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communications with any of the Rose staff, including the physician, about Mr. Zapkos’ diagnosis, 

prognosis or discharge instructions in the absence of appropriate auxiliary aids and services, 

specifically including a qualified sign language interpreter. 

58. The following day, Mr. Towery contacted Purple interpreting service to ask 

whether they were contacted the day before by Rose staff, and Mr. Towery was informed that no 

one from Rose had called the day before. 

59. Defendant denied access to appropriate auxiliary aids and services for deaf and 

hard of hearing individuals and their companions. 

60. Plaintiffs have been harmed, and will continue to be harmed by Defendant’s lack of 

policies, practices and procedures regarding their obligation to provide appropriate auxiliary aids 

and services to deaf and hard of hearing individuals. 

61. Plaintiffs have been harmed, and, in the absence of the injunction sought herein, 

will continue to be harmed by Defendant’s failure to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and 

services to deaf and hard of hearing individuals. 

62. Defendant’s actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and 

perceptible injury to Plaintiffs. Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those described 

herein. 

First Claim for Relief 
(Violations of the ADA) 

 

63. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set 

forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 
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64. Title III of the ADA provides in pertinent part: “No individual shall be 

discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, 

services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public 

accommodation by any person who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public 

accommodation.” 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a). 

65. Title III of the ADA also states:  “It shall be discriminatory to exclude or otherwise 

deny equal goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, accommodations, or other 

opportunities to an individual or entity because of the known disability of an individual with whom 

the individual or entity is known to have a relationship or association.” 42 U.S.C. § 

12182(b)(1)(E).  

66. Specifically, under Title III, discrimination includes “a failure to take such steps as 

may be necessary to ensure that no individual with a disability is excluded, denied services, 

segregated or otherwise treated differently than other individuals because of the absence of 

auxiliary aids and services[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(A)(iii). 

67. Pursuant to the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) regulations 

implementing Title III, “A public accommodation shall take those steps that may be necessary to 

ensure that no individual with a disability is excluded, denied services, segregated or otherwise 

treated differently than other individuals because of the absence of auxiliary aids and services[.]”  

28 C.F.R. § 36.303(a). 

68. The regulations continue: “A public accommodation shall furnish appropriate 

auxiliary aids and services where necessary to ensure effective communication with individuals 
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with disabilities. This includes an obligation to provide effective communication to companions 

who are individuals with disabilities.”  28 C.F.R. § 36.303(c)(1). 

69. In determining what type of auxiliary aid or service to provide, places of public 

accommodation must consider “the nature, length, and complexity of the communication 

involved; and the context in which the communication is taking place[,]” and “should consult with 

individuals with disabilities whenever possible to determine what type of auxiliary aid is needed to 

ensure effective communication[.]”  28 C.F.R. § 36.303(c)(1)(ii). 

70. “The ultimate decision as to what measures to take rests with the public 

accommodation, provided that the method chosen results in effective communication. In order to 

be effective, auxiliary aids and services must be provided in accessible formats, in a timely 

manner, and in such a way as to protect the privacy and independence of the individual with a 

disability.” Id.   

71. In addition, places of public accommodation shall not require a person to bring his 

or her own interpreter, or rely on an adult accompanying the individual, except in certain 

circumstances not applicable in this case.  28 C.F.R. § 36.303(c)(2)-(3). 

72. As the DOJ recognized when promulgating the regulations, written notes often do 

not ensure effective communication, particularly in medical situations, and thus “interpreters 

should be used when the matter involves more complexity, such as in communication of medical 

history or diagnoses, in conversations about medical procedures and treatment decisions, or in 

communication of instructions for care at home or elsewhere.” 28 C.F.R. pt. 36, app. A. 
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73. Moreover, the regulations prescribe specific requirements for places of public 

accommodation that choose to utilize VRI. 

74. Under the regulations, related to VRI: 

A public accommodation that chooses to provide qualified interpreters via VRI 

service shall ensure that it provides— 

 

(1) Real-time, full-motion video and audio over a dedicated high-speed, 

wide-bandwidth video connection or wireless connection that delivers high-quality 

video images that do not produce lags, choppy, blurry, or grainy images, or 

irregular pauses in communication; 

 

(2) A sharply delineated image that is large enough to display the interpreter’s face, 

arms, hands, and fingers, and the participating individual’s face, arms, hands, and 

fingers, regardless of his or her body position; 

 

(3) A clear, audible transmission of voices; and 

 

(4) Adequate training to users of the technology and other involved individuals so 

that they may quickly and efficiently set up and operate the VRI. 

 

28 C.F.R. § 36.303(f). 

 

75. While the DOJ recognized that VRI may be effective in certain circumstances, 

including routine medical care and emergencies when a live, in-person interpreter is not available, 

it urges that “VRI may not be effective in situations involving surgery or other medical procedures 

where the patient is limited in his or her ability to see the video screen [and] . . . where there are 

multiple people in a room and the information exchanged is highly complex and fast paced.” 28 

C.F.R. pt. 36, app. A. 

76. Thus, “[t]o ensure that VRI is effective in situations where it is appropriate, the 

Department has established performance standards in § 36.303(f).” Id. 
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77. With respect to VRI, “[t]he term’s inclusion within the definition of ‘qualified 

interpreter’ makes clear that a public accommodation’s use of VRI satisfies its title III obligations 

only where VRI affords effective communication.” Id. 

78. “The guiding criterion is that the public accommodation must provide appropriate 

auxiliary aids and services to ensure effective communication with the individual.” Id.  

79. Defendant is a place of public accommodation. See 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(F). 

80. Plaintiffs are individuals with disabilities. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102. 

81. Mr. Towery is a person Defendant knew was associated with Mr. Zapko. 28 C.F.R. 

§ 36.303(c)(1)(i). 

82. As the DOJ recognized, “[e]ffective communication with companions is 

particularly critical in health care settings where miscommunication may lead to misdiagnosis and 

improper or delayed medical treatment.” 28 C.F.R. Pt. 36, App. A. 

83. Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of their disabilities as 

set forth in this Complaint. 

84. Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by 

Defendant’s discrimination. 

85. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Plaintiffs are likely to encounter 

Defendant’s same discriminatory policies and practices. 

 

Second Claim for Relief 
(Violations of Section 504) 
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86. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set 

forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

87. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), provides in 

pertinent part: 

No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States . . . shall, 

solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be 

denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 

activity receiving Federal financial assistance.   

 

88. On information and belief, Defendant accepts Federal financial assistance in the 

form of, inter alia, Medicare and Medicaid payments.   

89. Under Section 504, “the term ‘program or activity’ means . . . an entire corporation, 

partnership, or other private organizations . . . which is principally engaged in the business of 

providing . . . health care . . . .” 29 U.S.C. § 794(b)(3)(A). 

90. Plaintiffs are both qualified individuals with disabilities and have been subjected to 

discrimination by Defendant as described in this Complaint solely on the basis of their disabilities, 

including the failure to provide auxiliary aids and services in order to ensure effective 

communication. 

91. Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by 

Defendant’s discrimination. 

92. Defendant and its agents acted intentionally and with a reckless disregard for 

Plaintiffs’ civil rights. 
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93. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Plaintiffs are likely to encounter 

Defendant’s same discriminatory policies and practices. 

Third Claim for Relief 
(Violations of CADA) 

 

94. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations set 

forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

95. Under the CADA, “[i]t is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, 

directly or indirectly, to refuse, withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, because of 

disability . . . the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, 

or accommodations of a place of public accommodation . . . .” Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(2). 

96. Pursuant to the regulations implementing the CADA: 

Whenever possible, the interpretation of state law [the provisions of Parts 3 through 

7 of Article 34 of Title 24, C.R.S. (1988), as amended] concerning disability shall 

follow the interpretations established in Federal regulations adopted to implement 

the Americans with Disabilities Act and . . . in the Federal case law interpreting the 

Americans with Disabilities Act . . . .” 

 

3 Colo. Code Regs. 708-1:60.1.(C) (bracketed text in original). 

 

97. Defendant is a place of public accommodation. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(1). 

98. Plaintiffs are individuals with disabilities. Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-301(2.5).  

99. Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of their disabilities, as 

set forth in this Complaint. 

100. Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by 

Defendant’s discrimination. 
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101. In the absence of the injunction sought herein, Plaintiffs are likely to encounter 

Defendant’s same discriminatory policies and practices. 

 

Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray: 

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction; 

2. That this Court issue an Order declaring Defendant to be in violation of Title III of 

the ADA, Section 504, and the CADA; 

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendant to provide qualified sign 

language interpreters or other appropriate auxiliary aids or services in order to ensure effective 

communication with deaf and hard-of-hearing individuals. 

4. That this Court awards Plaintiffs damages. 

5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper 

and equitable. 

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs request this case be heard by a jury. 
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Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Andrew C. Montoya       

Andrew C. Montoya 

Kevin W. Williams 

Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 

655 Broadway, Suite 775 

Denver, Colorado 80203 

Phone: (303) 839-1775 

Facsimile: (720) 210-9819 

E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org  

E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org 

 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Dated: October 23, 2014 

 

 

Address of Plaintiffs Ronald Zapko and John Towery: 

 

515 Clarkson St., Apt. 1103 

 

Denver, Colorado 80218 
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